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Beyond The

Twiltone Event Horizon

Everybody asks about Rune, but nobody wants to write
for it. A year or two back I thought it a humorous
greeting to accost fans like Victor Raymond or Karen
Cooper, running into them at parties or standing

out on the prairie at the Winnipeg Folk Festival or

as they drove by in the opposite direction on 35W,
with the hilariously witty phrase: “Hey, where’s your
Rune article?”

Well, like repeatedly asking Terry Hughes “What's
new in fandom, Terry?” (an old and long-ago tired
Fabulous Falls Church Fandom catchphrase) asking local
fans about their promised Rune article gets old after
awhile, and the accostee, even one as terribly polite as
Terry Hughes Himself, eventually lets me know in some
subtle way that I'm being Just A Bit Much.

So, where is your Rune article?

And don’t tell me your shoulder dragon ate it.

One theory of mine is that Minicon has eaten Rune.
Thirty years ago the fledging club wanted to run a world-
con, but withdrew their bid after seeing what winning the
worldcon had done to St. Louis fandom. Now we run a
worldcon every year. Minicon has grown to worldcon size,
and it takes up a lot of volunteer time throughout the year
to maintain the momentum. A lot of people love coming to
Minicon. Far fewer actually jump in to help run it (and a
3,000 person convention does not run itself.)

This Rune has taken two years to complete. The
editorial group we formed has changed in this time.
Ken Fletcher has asked to be removed from the mast-
head (though he can’t escape from my belief that Rune
wouldn’t be Rune without Ken’s art.) Garth has taken a
sabbatical to pursue some less demanding interests
(he’s been working on his stamp collection) and Tom
has been busy doing publications for various Big
Conventions In Town. Garth may still come back and
do more issues (which is why I've asked him to retain
his title of Senior Executive Editor) and Tom claims he
is amassing material for an issue based on stuff he has
been downloading from the Internet.

b;g ]eff Sc(;aﬂes

Meanwhile, back at the MinnStf Board of Directors, they
want a more frequent Rune. They are quite right, and we
currently stand in jeopardy of losing the editorship. A fairly
vocal complaint has been raised from one club member,
Kevin Trainor, and what follows are suggestions from a text

he distributed at the March 18th Minnstff meeting:

Publication of Rune on (at least) a bimonthly
basis. Replacement of its editor on an annual
basis, one month after the Annual General
Meeting. Restatement of Rune’s mission: to
provide news of Minnstf activities, business and
events; to serve as a source of news for the local,
regional, and national fan communaties, as
Linda Bushyager’s Karass once did. Avoidance
of revenue sinks, perhaps by subscription fees
and/or requiring members to pick up their
copies at meetings. Unification of all Minnstff

publications under one officer.

Ideas are always welcome, though automatically replacing
the editor every year might seem just a bit much. And why
do all MinnStf pubs need to be under one officer? And
who is dying to be that officer? Please remember that there
hasn’t exactly been a rash of people breaking down the
club’s door volunteering to do all this work. And believe
me, whether you do it with a computer or with an old IBM
Selectric and some rubber cement, it is a heck of a lot of
work. It can be done (Fred Haskell did it—with style) but
unless you have a true love for this business of fanzine
publishing, and at least some amount of experience doing
it, bi-monthly volunteer newszine production will eat you
alive. Or, more probably, you will lose interest real darn
quick and just disappear. So, if there is someone out there
who really wants to dive in and start cranking out frequent
issues of Rune, possibly based on a model like the current
very excellent Madison clubzine, Cube, please contact me
or the board of directors at once!

However, my own clear and immediate response to all
the people who want to get Rune going (again) is this: go
find some material. Write something yourself. Good
articles almost never just show up, an editor has to go out



and find them, even beg for them. You may note that most
of this issue was written by fans from outside the club.
That is my doing; I know a lot of people in fandom. If you
can come up with acceptable material to fill the substantial
portion of an issue we may make you the guest editor for
that issue—with a chance at a place on the masthead. Rune
goes out to a wide variety of readers, and there is room for
material on many different subjects of interest to science
fiction and fantasy fans.

My own selfish concern over Rune being taken over
by people from outside the fanzine community is the
immediate loss of continuity (don’t laugh) in the letter
column and mailing list. The mailing list has been set up
in the past to run on a sort of auto-pilot as a subset of the
MinnStf One True Mailing List. Unfortunately, without a
knowledgeable fanzine fan involved with the updating of
the list, most of the interested readers around the world
would very likely be quickly dropped by the autopilot’s
subroutine. Possibly, though, this is what needs to
happen. Rune started out as a small, regular, club news-
zine, and, when it grew beyond this into the fun genzine
you lay around reading in the slanshacks of the 1970’s,
Einblatt (begun by Ken Fletcher) was created to take up
the local news reporting slack.

So once again, I am printing nearly everything I have
on hand in this current Rune. I would have liked to have
saved part of the material as seed for another issue a few
months from now, but am loath to do this. I’ve held on to
too much of this for too long as it is.

Which brings me to, again, “so stop complaining and
write something already!” Review some books (though we

have a policy of not printing reviews of books by local
authors), tell us about your Ace Special paperback collection,
write up that piece about your car’s anthropomorphic antics.
Fanzine writing does not always have to have a science fiction
or fantasy subject as long as it is in itself something fun or
interesting to read. Most fans read anything and everything,
from backs of cereal boxes to Perry Rhodan books. Write
something, rewrite it until it sings, and either send it to the
club PO box or email it direct to me: [ jjschalles @aol.com ].
If you write something for an apa or a limited circulation
fanzine that you think deserves wider circulation, send it
to us to reprint. I would particularly encourage people
with a gaming interest to send me some material—I have,
in the past, been somewhat cool to gaming. It’s not
something I do, and for many years I didn’t take gaming
very seriously in fandom. Several good friends apparently
disappeared into role playing games and have never
resurfaced. Well, it’s taken me awhile, but I finally realized
that ignoring gaming won’t make it go away, so instead I've
decided that I need to learn more about it—kind of like the
way I keep trying to listen to rap music. There must be
something there if only I pay real close attention. So tell
the rest of us what makes gaming so interesting to you, tell
us about the sense of community of the gaming sub-
fandom, tell us where all our friends have gone.

A quick production note: I now have a flatbed
scanner and OCR (optical character recognition)
software. This is how most of the articles and all of the
letter column (except for a few handwritten ones) were
entered for this issue. The main exception to this is the
LASFS History reprint piece. An anonymous friend-sat
down one day and typed it
for me from the crumbling
twiltone mimeod pages of
the 1968 fanzine it originally
appeared in. (The Bjo art
accompanying the piece is
the actual original stuff,
carefully scanned from the
dying twiltone.) I have
proofed and edited as
closely as I could, but there
may be some odd glitches
left from the OCR programs’
strange assumptions about
American English and dot-
matrix printers.

Happy Holidays from Jolene & Pat
& Marlys & the sales and catering
staff of the Radisson South


aol.com

1 ee Pelton

Rune Co-Editor, 19781980

Editor’s note: long-time fan and former Rune Editor Lee
Pelton died this past December, and it seemed a fitting
tribute to devote part of this Rune to memories of Lee.

Carol Kennedy

Going through the Pelton/Kennedy Runes, preparing to
write this, I found what I wrote for Rune 61, our final
issue: “I never would have done this on my own. But he
needed my help. I had the experience; he had the enthusi-
asm. I had the mimeo; he had the . . . enthusiasm. No
matter what, he had that. Through broken mimeo,
crummy ink, missed deadlines, ripped stencils, recalci-
trant writers, temperamental artists, and post office snafus,
through moving, and moving again, and moving again,
through beginnings and ends of relationships, through
relative poverty and relative affluence, through sickness
and health and Minicon, he had enthusiasm.”

The main thing I remember about Lee and Rune is
the main thing everyone seems to remember about Lee
and everything—his passion. He never did anything
halfheartedly. Again from Rune 61: “He got virtually all
the artwork and most of the written work, and he made
friends of the artists and writers. He sent out spec copies
and cut the mailing list and went through dozens of COA
columns and kept the list more up-to-date than any
fannish mailing list has a right to be. He mimeographed
almost every page of almost every Rune we did. And he
coaxed, prodded, bribed, and coerced an often reluctant
coeditor.” He ate junk food by the bag and drank pop by
the two-liter bottle—from the bottle. He didn’t fuss; he
raged. He didn’t remind; he nagged. He didn’t smile; he
beamed, he glowed, he vibrated. He sang old rock ‘n’ roll
songs as if they were hymns—which they were to him. He
collected things—obsessively. Too much was not enough.
Along the way, he introduced me (and it sometimes seems,
half of fandom) to strange music and obscure movies (or
vice versa), as well as hockey and SF conventions.

Lee’s death hasn’t brought me the profound grief that
some people seem to have expected me to feel. Over the
years we had become pseudo-siblings who followed very
different life paths—he with his movies and records and
books, with Giovanna and art shows, with his continuing
love/hate relationship with fandom; me with Jonathan,
parenthood, work, and a live-in invalid mother. Lee and 1
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remained devoted to each other and always able to count
on each other, but were not part of each other’s everyday
life. We seldom saw each other in recent years, and didn’t
even talk on the phone often. Still, he was there, in the
background, part of how I became who I am, just like the
two brothers I grew up with.

I’ve only cried over Lee’s death twice. Once was at his
memorial, when his daughter, whom he hadn’t seen in
many years, arrived—with the grandson Lee never knew
he had. Because, perhaps, of the path my life has taken,
his broken link with his child saddened me so much. And
now any future in which to repair it has been taken from
them all.

The second time was in writing this, remembering,
alone. There are all those moments about which I can no
longer say to anyone, “Remember when ... ,” because only



Lee and I were there. Still, he was there, and he’ll always
be there in my memory. Those times aren’t lost; they live
on in who I am today.

I think I haven’t yet found the part of my present life

where he’s missing. I suspect that one of these days I will,
and I’ll cry at least a third time.

Lee wasn’t much of a religious believer, nor am I. But
when I think of the possibility of heaven and hell, I know
that Lee would have to be in heaven. God, being God, has
infinite patience. But Lee would drive the devil crazy in

about half a day.

Giovanna Fregni

How do I condense 15 years of friendship and living into a
short article? Writing’s never come easy to me, and so
personal a subject makes it even more challenging.

Lee and I met sometime in 1980. It was at a room
party ata con I don’t recall. I do recall his Betty Boop
t-shirt and how easy it was to talk to him. I rarely felt so
comfortable with people I’ve just met. Over the years Lee
was always someone ] looked for at conventions, often
missing most of the programming because we were in
intense conversation mode.

Lee was also my first publisher. He saw a drawing I
did and wanted it for Private Heat. I was afraid he
wouldn’t be able to pull it off, because it was filled with
dark crosshatching. Well, he managed to do it. Art was

always important to him. He was.always more interested in
including a drawing and having it turn out perfectly than
turning it down because of a small trifle like technical
difficulties.

Lee was a perfectionist. Lee was also stubborn.

Perhaps more than anything else, that was what kept
us together through the roughest times. We were both very
stubborn people and well matched for butting heads.
Many nights were spent yelling, gesturing, fuming and
stomping until we wore each other out, finally finding a
compromise.

Life wasn’t all storm and fury, though. Lee never
forgot a birthday or.special occasion..And when someone
needed him, he was there, often sparing no expense.
Friends were important to him and he always wanted to
make sure they were supplied with as many creature
comforts as possible.

Lee was also a voracious collector. He could never
own one of anything. He usually stuck to books, music,
and videos, but in his last years he found newer and more
eclectic things to collect. In a way, it was his idea of money
in the bank. Certainly, not as lucrative as stocks or a
passbook, but far more fun to look at or listen to.

Lee fervently believed that it was never too late to have
a happy childhood and threw himself entirely into what-
ever he enjoyed, whether it was watching a ballgame,
driving across country or just listening to some new
music. Life was to be enjoyed.

Not that there weren’t hard times too. Probably, the
most difficult part of being diagnosed with AIDS was
that he knew, ultimately, that he couldn’t beat it. Lee
never believed in giving up and he never backed down
in the fight against the disease. I really don’t think he
intended to die. He was so determined to fight and win,
that it came as a shock of betrayal that his body wore
out. If will power alone were enough, he’d still be
around for years to come.

In a lot of ways he still is around. He has quite a
legacy of art, music, writing and friends to his name. Over
the years he has supported so many artists, writers, and
musicians, either by encouragement, by buying a work, or
by honest (sometimes brutally honest) criticism. He was
an early coeditor of Rune and produced his own fanzines,
Private Heat and Secret Traffic. He contributed to many
apas over the years, usually jumping headlong into
controversy and fanning the flames of debate. Life was
never dull around Lee, but you always knew where you
stood with him. He never suffered fools lightly.

Of all people, I think he preferred cats. Lee was a
charmer of cats. Hardened and half feral toms in parking
lots would allow him to pick them up and purr in his



arms. Cats trusted him and I think he found an honesty in
them that he rarely found in humans.

I’ll remember Lee in so many ways: searching for that
long, lost music in dusty, old record stores, showing Ellie
how to throw that perfect forward pass; running into the
ocean for the first time at abalone cove; being delighted at
the parade of dragons and drums at Chinese New Years.
Most of all I’ll remember all those hours when he held on
to me and told me everything will work out all nght.

Nate Bucklin

Lee and I started as instant friends, and were friends again
by the end. Please remember that while I struggle toward a
reconciliation of my memories—not reconciling them with
“the facts” (and who really knows what all of them are,
anyway?) but with each other. My view of Lee while we
were on the outs doesn’t match my view of Lee before or
since. If there is an absolute truth to be found in there, I
don’t know what it is. I strongly suspect Lee would resent
being remembered as a saint. (I haven’t been one either.)
So—keeping in mind that I’ve now made three separate
tries at writing down the whole story of Lee and Nate, and
always reached page 10 or 12 without getting past the
breakup of our band, almost seventeen years ago—I will
try to summarize. Maybe you’ll figure out why Lee and I
had such a stormy friendship.

Lee’s first contact with fandom was very simple: I
found his wallet on a street. My ex-wife called him to come
get it. They talked for long enough to find a mutual
interest in performing music (though in fact Caryl and Lee
never played in the same band) and long enough for Lee
to ooh and ahh over our publicly displayed science fiction
collection. (His own may well have rivaled ours even
then—he didn’t say.) Caryl apparently made a point of
telling him that I, not she, had found the wallet, and made
an equal point of telling me that this Lee Pelton person
was a former rock band lead singer and an s-f fan. But she
didn’t give me Lee’s number or tell me to call him; in all
our minds, the transaction was finished.

Four years later, I was divorced, and back from
California with a new girlfriend, Kara Dalkey, also a
musician. We were attending our first joint Minn-stf
meeting, and circulating separately, Kara conversing with
whoever she could, me pointedly trying to meet the
people who were new since I'd left. I'd noticed a burly,
handsome fellow about my age conversing actively with
some people I knew. I went over to him a bit later. “Hi.
I’'m Nate Bucklin. What’s your name?”

“Lee Pelton.”

We both grinned spontaneously. Neither of us had
forgotten. It was almost, “Son!” “Dad!” We scarcely
stopped smiling at the sight of each other for six months.

Lee Pelton and Carol Kennedy (still using her first
husband’s name then, but not for long) met at a Minn-stf
picnic. Carol credited Kara and me for getting her to
attend. I suspect that it was only a matter of time before
Carol (who had perversely gotten into fandom strictly by
mail, through the Los Angeles fans) would have sought
out fandom in Minnesota, where she lived, and done just
fine. Nonetheless, this was where she and Lee met. They
moved in together three days later; I may have been the
first fan to know. I was thrilled and amazed—and all the
happier that I'd found Lee’s wallet four years earlier!

Soon, Lee and Carol and Kara and I were an insepa-
rable foursome. Kara and I were getting our band Rune-
stone onto its feet, and Lee and Carol were our two
staunchest fans. I had heard Lee’s excellent harmony
singing, and knew him to be really musically inclined—
probably more so than our actual lead singer, Robin
Wolf—and respected his opinion, with an occasional
“Whaaaaat?” when Lee said something that didn’t match
my worldview.

The full story of Runestone took me seven or eight
pages, the other three times I tried to write about it. For all
that Lee and his criticisms were an integral part of what
came down with Runestone, I shouldn’t ask anybody to
wade through that much extraneous stuff! I viewed our



biggest problems as poor equipment and a very bored
drummer. Lee, though, as a lead singer himself, was
watching the lead singer, Robin Wolf (a spectacular John
Denver imitator, but really not a rock’n’roller), and
growing more and more convinced that he could do better
than Robin. (Actually, it was an apples-vs-oranges compe-
tition. I was a hotel lounge player, first and foremost;
Robin, young and inexperienced, was as happy playing
hotel lounges as anyplace; Lee was a confirmed hard
rocker, and felt that if he led Kara and me down the path
to rock’n’roll success, we’d have more work, the band
would sound better by any standard, and we’d all be
happier. It took me years to realize that Lee and I had no
business in the same band at all. Would I have hired Mick
Jagger to sing lead, and then broken up our friendship
when he sang and acted like Mick Jagger?)

Robin and drummer Alden tried to talk me into firing
Kara. I obviously couldn’t be persuaded. (Though I
signed the contracts, I viewed Runestone as Kara’s and
mine jointly; they could work with either of us, or neither
of us.) By the time the dust had settled, Alden had quit,
I’d fired Robin (who was deeply hurt and blamed Lee’s
sniping at his vocals, rather than admitting he’d wronged
Kara) and Runestone was composed of Lee, Kara, Al
Standish and me. (Al, who didn’t know for years that Lee
had taken an instant dislike to his drumming, quit inside a

Lee as High School Troubadour

couple of weeks anyway; we never-did get an adequate
replacement.) It was a dying band, and Kara’s and my
relationship was no better.

I do remember that agent Bobby Rogers had told
us, “Learn ten country-rock songs and I can book you
every weekend. If you don’t, I can’t book you at all.”
Lee accepted this when we first discussed playing in
the same band, but couldn’t live with it, and knew only
two country-rock songs when the band finally broke
up. It took me years, first, to figure out that Lee and I
had no business playing in the same band; second, that
Lee and I had discussed Lee’s taking complete charge
of our repertoire, as he didn’t think the songs Robin
and I had been picking were going over, yet Id forgot-
ten that conversation as certainly as Lee kept forgetting
our original agreement to play country-rock; third, that
if I'd gotten the solid-body rock’n’roll guitar Lee had
wanted me to buy (and about $3000 for amplifiers, a
better P.A., a totally professional bass for Kara, and a
van to haul the stuff in—not to mention a driving hard-
rock drummer who couldn’t play softly to save his life)
and played songs of Lee’s choosing, we might very well
have had a group capable of playing top rock clubs. In
fact, it was sometime in the mid-’80s when I realized
that some lead singers spend their entire careers
picking every song they sing; Lee’s willingness to do
about a third of the songs we’d learned with Robin, and
another third oldies, constituted far more cooperation
than I might have gotten from some top professionals.

Meanwhile, Kara was spending more and more time
over at Lee and Carol’s. My best guess was that she was .
trying to find an easy way to leave me, and going to our
two closest friends for support. Kara had decided on her
own that when we broke up, she would leave, and let me
keep the apartment; I'd heard Lee volunteer couch space
for her, if necessary. I wouldn’t dream of interfering with
the process. We tentatively agreed to live together until
June 1,1978, and part peacefully; but Kara’s romance
with Joel Halpern came out of nowhere in mid-May. I -
called Carol to make sure the couch was available, told
Kara that I had done so, and proceeded to fall apart.

Carol was far nicer to me on the phone the next day
than I expected, and made it clear that the fact that Kara
was staying on their couch did not make them less my
friends—but, Nate, remember that Kara is never coming
back. I waited until the next day to talk to Lee, with one
question. “Lee, are we still friends?”

Lee’s response was slow and methodical. “Yes, Nate,
we’re still friends. But you should know that I’ve been
trying to break up you and Kara as long as I’ve known you.
In fact, last night Kara had told us that she planned on



going back to your place and staying until June 1 as she
originally planned. I talked her out of it.”” (Pause) “Nate,
you've got a lot of problems, and shouldn’t be dating
anybody until you've got your head straightened out.”

Carol Kennedy told me later that Lee had not tried to
talk Kara out of going back to my place, but she had. As
for Lee’s trying to break up Kara for as long as he’d known
us—all the evidence was that Lee had never attempted
anything of the sort. Why did Lee try to take the blame for
something nobody had done?

A month later I was feeling seriously depressed, and
Carol came over to keep me company. Lee, on his own
phone dime, called every friend I had outside the Twin
Cities area (missing only my blood relatives and one
woman who is not a fan) and got them to call me in a
convoy. It took me several calls to realize that Lee was
doing it. (Note to anybody who saw references to Lee’s
brutal honesty and courage, and suspected that Lee was
an insensitive brute when alive and healthy: He was
nothing of the sort.) But the storm a week or two later
knocked Lee’s and my friendship out of commission for
ten years.

Lee started a Minneapazine with a rant about how
irresponsible Mike Wood was being about putting an
occasional three-week gap between mailings, rather than
making it a four-week gap the way everybody wanted and
needed. (Minneapa had started as an every-two-week apa;
some of us had gone to him requesting that it be every
three weeks, so the collation would not be the centerpiece
of every Minn-stf meeting; he’d gone along with it. The
slide to every-four-weeks had never been official, but was
the best compromise Mike could work out with his
convention schedule. A few people had suggested that
every four weeks become the norm; one or two others had
objected; 3/4 of the apa had said nothing.) I was horrified
at this, but tried to keep it under control. (Mike, who had
spent most of his fannish life in more apas simultaneously
than I’ve been in my life, managed to blow this off. I could
not.) Then Steve Brust made two comments back to back,
trying to make sure both Kara and I knew he still wanted
to be our friends. Lee made an ice-cold comment to Steve
that his comments to me proved he did not understand the
situation and were very much uncalled-for. I ran out of the
meeting in a rage, walked around the neighborhood for a
while, and finally came back. “Lee, you and I have to talk.”
I specified my objections to his attacks on Mike and Steve.

Lee refused to back down, and insisted that I'd
misunderstood him. (Lee had written in remarkably clear
English; there was nothing there to misunderstand.) I
finally yelled, “Lee, you and I are no longer speaking.
Good-bye!” and ran out of the house yet again.

Lee standing tront-row center at the site of the original
Woodstock main stage

It may be easier to summarize the next ten years than
the first couple. Lee and I could not manage to remain
hostile; we’d occasionally sing “I’'ve Had It” at a party, or
some other old Runestone songs if Kara was around to
play bass. We exchanged five-page letters about the Steve/
Mike mailing comments, getting nowhere. Lee amazed me
when, as a platonic roommate of Kara’s sometime later, he
came to me and apologized for anything he’d done to
hasten our separation, as it was now apparent that there
were problems on both sides. (This may not have been fair
to Kara, either; but I appreciated it.) From then on, it was
just a matter of time. Lee had made the first move.

At the 89 worldcon in Boston, Lee, Giovanna, and
Jim and Deirdre Rittenhouse were accepting toward the
idea of a fifth roommate; they had plenty of blankets and
floor coverings. It was a match of convenience; but Lee
and I got to talking. And then we spent an afternoon
together cruising record shops and sheet music shops in
the area of the hotel. I didn’t even care what we did or
where we went; I had my friend back.

Since then, Lee and I got together on a number of
occasions for Lee to play music out of his collection, some
of which I taped. (I never did figure out Lee’s taste in
music. Miraculously, he figured out mine.) Giovanna
suggested toward the end (after Lee had told me he had
AIDS) that we get together for this once a month, as their
“isolated” house is only one long bus ride from where I
work, and Lee, far too sick to work himself, was feeling
trapped in the house. Lee and I both wanted to continue
with this. Unfortunately, it was not to be. Lee went into
the hospital, suddenly unable to talk and barely able to
write. He came out, somewhat better, for just long enough
to marry Giovanna. Then it was back into the hospital. I
spent considerable time there, but mostly with Giovanna



interpreting. She was having troubles figuring out what
her husband needed, too, but could at least make reason-
able guesses, and Lee would make a thumbs-up or
thumbs-down in response. (At one point on Lee’s 45th
birthday, I was the one person there besides Lee, Gio-
vanna, and the helpful VA Hospital staff. I felt as though I
was butting into Lee and Giovanna’s private time. Lee
used a vehement thumb gesture to assure us that I wasn’t.
I stayed quite late that night.)

A few days after Christmas I got the call from Ericka
Johnson. “Nate. He’s gone.”

It was over. I'd had my friend back for just over five years.

I was waking up with the might-have-beens for over a
month. If Lee and I hadn’t been at odds over the whole
Runestone situation if Kara and I had had better equip-
ment, making it possible to play louder rock bars—if Lee
had been on better terms with Steve Brust, with a clearer
understanding of the alleged romantic triangle that
supposedly disqualified Steve from saying anything about
Kara’s and my breakup—if I'd explained a few things to
Carol three years earlier than I did—even if I'd succeeded
in my frantic search for psychiatric help any time between
1967 and 1978, so the mood disorder I was eventually
diagnosed with would not affect my band, my primary
relationship, my friendships, and everything I did—Lee
and I might not have had the ten-year gap. My only real
excuse, though, is that I never knew how little time Lee
and I would have left.

I've left out so much. (If anybody had realized at the
time that Linda Moss was leaving me for Lee Pelton while
Jane Freitag was leaving Lee for me, it would have been
fantastic fan gossip! But we all readjusted slowly over a few
months, and Minn-stf found other things to talk about.)
Lee was a complex person. I was fortunate to have had
him for a friend, even for a while. I miss him. Let’s leave it
at that.

John Stanley

My Life and Times with Lee Pelton

When Jeff Schalles told me that he wanted to have several
people who knew Lee Pelton do a memorial section for the
next issue of Rune, my first thought was “What a wonder-
ful idea!”. My second thought was something along the
lines of “Good ghod... How can I do justice to 20 years of
friendship in just a few pages?!”.

Writing about what makes a friendship and all the neat
things that I liked about and shared with Lee this soon
after losing him has been very painful. It’s also been a
learning experience.... The first thing I learned that I've
been relying on Lee’s uncanny memory entirely too much.
Lee had an almost perfect memory. He’s one of the only

Lee at Downtown Comics & Games

people I know who would sit down and actually read a
movie reference book, but he’s also the only person I can
think of who would from then on be able to tell you
anything at all about almost any movie in that book. I
could always count on Lee to remember names, places, .
phone numbers, addresses, relationships, movies, books,
music, almost anything, even 15 or 20 years after the fact.
If any of the following chronology is off, I can only
apologize and tell you that if Lee were doing it, it would be
perfect...

I first met Lee in the spring of 1975 when I was 18,
shortly after I moved out of my parents’ house and into the
small two bedroom apartment I then shared with Jeff
Berry at the corner of 9th and Portland in downtown
Minneapolis. Lee got involved with my circle of friends
and we discovered we had a number of common interests.
The three primary ones being SF, roleplay gaming, and a
shared taste in women and good food... (Ok, ok, four
primary ones.)

Lee had just separated from his first wife. Soon after
we first met, he moved into another apartment in the same
building which he shared for a while with Adrian
Thornley. For a few years we had a small Slan-apartment-
building going with friends dropping in to either apart-
ment at all hours and a few parties which spilled over from



one apartment into the other (which was a real trick since
we were three floors and several building-sections apart).
Lee and I both tended to be night people (Lee doing temp
work and me attending college) and we would frequently
go bowling at 1:00 A.M. when we had no problem getting
alane.

Lee loved SF conventions. Over the next 18 years
(frequently from 1976 thru 1986 and occasionally after
that) Lee and I attended dozens of cons together and made
many out of town friends. I started to try to list the cons
we attended together, but soon realized it would take me
several months to go thru all my old notes and con
material and Lee went to many cons that I missed. Just
assume that if there was a con in Minnesota, Wisconsin,
Ilinois, Iowa, or Michigan any time from 1976 thru 1986,
there’s a 50% or better chance that Lee was there.

In mid 1977, Lee and I both found ourselves without
roommates. We decided to try sharing an apartment, so he
moved into mine. It was the first of two times Lee and I
would share a place, and much to our mutual surprise, it
worked quite well. However, it didn’t last very long. In
August Lee met Carol Kennedy at that year’s Picnicon and
they were almost inseparable from day one. Even at the
picnic there was a sense of two pieces of a matched set
coming together. Lee moved in to Carol’s Brooklyn Park
place soon afterwards.

It’s hard to believe they were together only two years
(it seems more like four). Lee and Carol were the driving
force behind several of the, in my opinion, best Rune
issues ever created and the hosts for many local fannish
gatherings. They split up in late 1979 and managed to stay
best friends in the process. (Over the next 15 years Carol
came to Lee’s aid many times when he most needed it and
provided substantial aid during Lee’s fight with AIDS.)

In early 1980, Lee got a job as manager of the Down-
town Comics and Fantasy bookstore on Hennepin Avenue
in downtown Minneapolis. The store carried a mix of
comics, SF & Fantasy books, and (Lee’s doing, I'm sure) a
series of classic old radio programs on tape. I came to
work for him in mid 1980 which both saved me financially
and rekindled a forgotten love of comic books (I used to
read them a lot as a preteen). Lee and I attended a number
of cons as hucksters. The store did ok, but never really
made enough to keep the owner happy. I left the store for a
computer job in mid *81 and Lee left a few months later
when the owner finally decided to close the store. For the
rest of his life, one of Lee’s fondest dreams was about
opening his own bookstore (and later a used record store),
but he never got the chance.

In August of ’81, Lee and I both wanted to try to save
some money so we decided to give the roommate thing

another try. We found a placeon 34th Ave. near Minne-
haha Park. It was a three bedroom place and the third
roommate was Erin McKee. Erin left in November or
December and Jane Freitag moved in in January of '82.

Jeanne Mealy (my SO of the last 13 years) and I got
involved in late December of 81 and Lee & Jane got married
soon afterwards. For a while it was a kind of idyllic existence
at the 34th Ave. place. The three of us (Lee, Jane, and myself)
were living in a neat house in nice neighborhood. We each
had a special someone and we all liked each other. It was one
of the happiest years of my life.

Lee was able to talk to almost anyone about almost
anything. This frequently included talking big-name
writers and artists into contributing their work to one of
his pet projects. While living at the 34th Ave. place, Lee
published some of the best issues of his personal-zine
called “Private Heat” which featured really great writing
and artwork. I can’t count the number of times I'd be
sorting out the mail and find a RTE (really thick envelope)
from some well known or famous person. (Anyone who
has any orphan copies of “Private Heat” are welcome to
pass them along to me and I promise to find a good home
for them.)

Unfortunately, although I didn’t realize it at the time, I
now know that the bookstore folding had been a serious
blow to Lee. Despite all the neat stuff happening around
him, he fell into a cycle of recurring depressions. Lee was
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also unemployed for most of this period which was a
strain on his relationship with Jane, a problem with the
household finances, and didn’t help his emotional state.

The household finally broke up in a series of events in
late ’82 and early ’83. Lee and Jane broke up, and I moved
into an apartment much closer to Jeanne.

For a while Lee and I drifted apart. I had a new
apartment, a new job, and I was spending most of my free
time with Jeanne. Lee lived in Minneapolis in a small
efficiency apartment on LaSalle Ave. near 13th street for
much of this time. We still occasionally went to cons and
did other things together but nowhere near as often as
before. Lee kind of dropped out of sight for a while
although I know he went thru a long series of temp jobs of
many types and he spent some time experimenting with
various life-styles. (This might have been when he picked
up the HIV virus although it also could have been later
while he was in Chicago.)

Eventually Lee decided that he really really wanted to
move to Chicago. He knew a large number of friends there
and he was convinced that the temp-job market was better
there. So in the summer of ’84 I packed his entire apart-
ment into a delivery van borrowed from Lynn Anderson
and drove him to Chicago (Lee didn’t drive and there
wasn’t room for anyone else).

While Lee was in Chicago I visited him a couple of
times but mostly we only saw each other at cons. In 86,
during one of our rare visits, he started talking in glowing
terms about this artist person named Giovanna Fregni
who he was interested in. She lived in Milwaukee but that
was ok since Lee was starting to get tired of Chicago.

Lee moved to Milwaukee in late June of ’87. They
were a good team. Giovanna is a good artist in several

David Schlosser, Giovanna, & Lee, Abalone Cove, Galifornia
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media, but wasn’t half as confident about selling her
creations as she should have been. Lee knew the retail and
convention sales side and he knew the things Giovanna
created were good.

At the time Lee moved to Milwaukee, he knew it was a
temporary move. He had seen enough of the world and
wanted to go back home to Minneapolis. On the other
hand, Giovanna had just bought a house and she wanted
to stay in Milwaukee until her daughter Ellie was out of
high school. At the time, made the most sense for them to
be together in Milwaukee but various things kept pushing
them to move to Minneapolis. The house they shared had
physical problems, their neighborhood was known as a
high crime area, and the city itself was having long-term
social and economic problems.

Finally, in mid ’91, Lee and Giovanna decided they
couldn’t wait any longer. It was time to move to Minne-
apolis. Lee came back first to find a job and a place to live
and Giovanna made a series of long roadtrips with her
truck loaded to the rafters. The final load arrived late
October of ’91. For those of you who either don’t know or
don’t remember, that was the day of the infamous Hallow-
een blizzard. We got more than 12 inches of snow in less
than 12 hours. Quite a memorable welcome-back.

For a couple of years they lived in a small apartment
building nicknamed “The Raymond Place” (Victor
Raymond & Lynn Litterer lived there and it was on
Raymond avenue.)

In March of 1993 Lee and Giovanna moved into a
house in St. Paul near the fairgrounds. They had been
looking for a nicer place for a while and they liked the
landlord. (The house was managed by another local fan,
Dean Gahlon.)

Soon after the move, Lee started experiencing a long
series of one medical problem after the other. Eventually,
on Oct. 21,93, the VA doctors finally figured out the
cause. Lee was experiencing the early symptoms of AIDS.

Lee and Giovanna told me right away. My first
reaction was stunned disbelief. Even though I liked to
think of myself as an “AIDS aware” individual, a rapid
series of thoughts and emotions flashed thru my mind.
“Sure, I know in the knowing sense that ‘people’ are sick
and dying from AIDS, but not Lee.” “But he looks so
healthy.” “No, it can’t be Lee.” “Please no.”

It was AIDS. They had told him he had one to three
years...

I don’t recall much of the next week. I was in
total shock.

MAP (the Minnesota AIDS Project) was a handy
resource. There’s an amazing amount of help for the
AIDS victims and their families. They provided supplies,



information and advice. Unfortunately they couldn’t do
anything to change the eventual prognosis.

There was an interminable period of several months
while the VA doctors went thru one string of medications
after the other. They frequently had to come up with
medicines to fix the side effects of other medicines that
Lee had to take to fix other side effects, and so on... Just
when they seemed to have the right combination, the virus
would change how it was affecting Lee and they’d have to
spend several weeks rebalancing his medications. He had
days when he was ok and days when he hardly had the
energy to get out of bed.

Frankly, I'm amazed that Lee and Giovanna were able
to survive this period as well as they appeared to. I suspect
in their situation I might have quietly gone insane on a
weekly basis. All I could do was help out when there was
something I could do and to try to spend more time with
Lee. When I went to visit, we never knew if I would be
able to stay around for several hours or Lee would run out
of energy in a few minutes.

Then came that fateful day in late December *93. 1
don’t remember all the details, but I remember I was
talking to an unusually quiet Lee on the phone and he
suddenly started verbally tearing me apart. I tried to get
him to calm down and he responded by saying some
especially hurtful things and telling me he never wanted to
have anything to do with me again and then he hung up.

I tried talking with Giovanna and only learned that
that same day he had walked out of the house without
his coat and he had said something about he wasn’t
going to be coming back. (Somehow she did manage to
get him to come back.) He had also been agitated and
angry and wouldn’t talk to her. Carol Kennedy was the
only person he would listen to and it took her several
hours to calm him down. At the time, all I knew was my
best friend for the last 18 years had suddenly turned on
me. He had said several things that you don’t say to
anyone you ever want to have a civil conversation with
again. I stayed in touch with Giovanna, but Lee and I
stopped having anything to do with each other for
almost a year. I was confused and hurt, torn between
wanting to “go away” as he had told me to do and
desperately wanting to go back to being friends.

In mid November ’94 Giovanna finally managed to get
us back together again. I learned that because of AIDS,
Lee had been having problems that day with a disease
known as Toxoplasmosis. It can cause many symptoms,
including extreme rage and irrational behavior. He
apologized for the things he had said and I apologized for
believing him. Basically we went back to being friends
again, and not a moment too soon.
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In late November Lee suddenly lost the ability to talk
and most of his muscle coordination. He was only able to
communicate by writing and gesturing. He was constantly
in and out of the VA hospital for one emergency after the
other and finally in mid-December, he simply wasn’t able
to come home any more. Giovanna was there every day
and many friends visited him. I remember long chats and
piles of gifts that arrived there for his 45th birthday on
December 19th. In late December he went into a coma.

Around 7:30 am on Thursday December 29th, I
awoke to the sound of my answering machine taking a
message. With a feeling of dread I got up and listened to
the message. It was Giovanna. All she had said was “He’s
gone.” My world crumbled. I had know it was coming, but
you’re never ready for that moment.

I called Giovanna at the hospital and then rushed
there. I was soon joined by Reed Waller, Kate Worley, and
Ellie (Giovanna’s daughter). We all just stood around for a
while saying those really-last good-byes to Lee and then
we joined Kay McCutcheon (a friend of Lee’s from
Eureka, CA. who had come to visit Lee) went to a
Bridgman’s restaurant for breakfast and several hours of
mutual consoling.

Newyear’s day '95 friends and family gathered in the
party room in the basement of Peter Hentges and Enicka
Johnson for a short memorial and party. Even Lee’s father
who he hadn’t seen since Lee left home and Lee’s grand-
daughter that he never knew about were there. Lee had
asked for it to be a party rather than a funeral service and I
think we did an ok job under the circumstances. For those
of you who weren’t able to attend, there’s going to be a
memorial gathering hosted by Giovanna at Minicon this
year in the Minneapolis in *73 suite Saturday night. Bring
memories and pictures if you have them.

- Lee was my best friend for nearly 20 years. We were
closer than brothers for most of that time. I still can’t really
accept he’s gone. I'll love him, and miss him, and carry
part of him in my heart until my last days.

Good-bye Lee.

Jeanne Mealy

It seems totally unreal that Lee Pelton is gone. He was so
physically and emotionally strong, brimming with opin-
ions and ambitions. Somehow I have to accept that he
really did die, that he’s not just down the hall or across the
state. I have to fight the strong sense of denial, the anger at
the waste of a life—and what it did to those who cared
about him.

That’s the mixed bag of emotions I dip into now,
looking back to when I first knew of Lee. I'm fairly sure it



was during my first year in fandom. I joined a new SF club
at the University of Wisconsin-La Crosse in the fall of
1975 and attended my first convention, Minicon, in 1976.
Wowee! It was very exciting to meet a large group of
people who liked SF/F. We clubmates traveled to several
regional conventions on poor college student budgets in
the next few years, sharing transportation, food, the room,
and occasional adventures. Somewhere in there I got a
copy of Rune, Mn-Stf’s clubzine, in the mail. I believe that
Lee and Carol Kennedy were editing it. I was entranced:
these people wrote about interesting things in witty,
thought-provoking, and sometimes downright silly ways.
There were illustrations, photos, and jargon to marvel at
and puzzle over. I caught on quickly that if I wrote back
and expressed interest, they’d send more of these zine
things—free. So I did and they did and occasionally they’d
print excerpts from my letters. Neat! So, Lee was instru-
mental in introducing me to the heady world of fannish
publishing and quality writing.

My next clear memory was of getting acquainted with
and visiting my SO (significant other) John Stanley while
he was sharing a duplex with Lee in south Minneapolis in
1981. Lee and John had been best friends for years. Soon
after John and I got together, Lee and Jane Freitag got
serious about each other. So there were four of us wander-
ing around with glazed eyes and happy smiles, chatting
and watching TV and passing by in the hallway. Lee
seemed very happy and focused.

Rummage sales turned out to be a common interest.
John and I attended some with Lee and Jane, and later
with Lee and Giovanna. While the hunt for bargains and
actual purchases was exciting, the companionship stands
out most in my mind. We’d chat about what was for sale
(“I could get this for you.” “Don’t you DARE!”), what it
reminded us of (“I had a shirt like this once.” “Glad you
developed some taste.”), and whatever we felt like talking
about (“Know any good gossip?”). Just as we do with
other friends who aren’t with us, we will probably note
Lee’s preferences (“He would LOVE this.””) when we go
rummaging this year. Maybe he’ll be there in spint,
nudging us to see That Perfect Deal.

A few of us went bowling on Sunday mornings for
awhile, too. We were often the only customers for awhile
in a large alley. Lee was a better bowler than most of us
and offered tips when we (usually) appeared to need them.
Again, it wasn’t so much what we were doing as the fact
that we were having fun.

I visited with Lee while he sat behind convention
huckster tables, at parties, and in print. We were also in
several apas (amateur press associations), writing about
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many topics and commenting on-the other members’
contributions. His writing was interesting, amusing, and
often startling. For one thing, Lee didn’t believe in
sugarcoating his opinions. For another, his enthusiasm
and energy came through clearly, whether he was talking
about someone who would be writing or doing illustra-
tions for him or ideas he wanted to write about.

Lee also lent a hand with Congenial, a small annual
convention held in Racine a few years ago. (It’s in another
location this year.) I can’t remember how many years he
helped with it, but I do remember his insistence on high
standards and weird beer.

Lee was good with massage, as I can personally
attest. During one New Year’s party a few years ago I

was surprised by someone massaging my shoulders
with great force, yet amazingly not hitting any painful
spots. Within seconds I felt more relaxed than I had for
years, and could barely turn around to see who was
behind me. Lee smiled at my amazement and offered to
keep going. Melt... We had a few other sessions here
and there after that. I expressed my gratitude at his
skill, but he was fairly humble about it. He felt he did
well, but had more to learn. The concept was mindbog-
gling to contemplate.

A few years ago, Lee moved to Chicago. He and Jane
had split amicably. Somewhere along the line, he and
Giovanna connected and sparks of love flew. He moved to
her house in Milwaukee, where they stayed until the
neighborhood deteriorated too badly. The siren call of
Twin Cities fandom lured them here.

We hadn’t seen too much of Lee and Giovanna in the
last year or two because they were busy earning a living at
art shows or we were busy with our own diversions. They
dropped out of apas, didn’t come rummaging, etc. Then
we got the awful news that Lee had AIDS.



Disbelief ran rampant. We had faith in Lee’s amazing
strength and stubbornness to beat the disease. However,
he was severely taxed by many complications that left him
il and weak due to being treated incorrectly. He com-
plained about being bored lying around watching TV.
Now this was serious—Lee was the original couch potato
who loved to park in his chair to snack and watch sports
and movies for hours (or was it days?). Instead, he lost
weight and became discouraged.

Finally, someone caught on to what he really needed.
OK, now he’ll get his strength back and be cured soon,
right? No. His health took a turn for the worse last fall and
Giovanna began regularly rushing him to the VA
Hospital’s emergency room or to see his doctor. This was
a very hard time for all four of us. John and I had just
moved after many years in the same place and still were
very disorganized. The holidays came soon with their own
activities to plan for and participate in. I can’t count the
number of times John rushed over to help Lee and
Giovanna, glad he could help somehow. While he and Lee
weren't as close as they’d been years ago, there was still a
bond between them. And Giovanna certainly needed and
deserved support. While I knew what had priority, I
couldn’t help wanting some normalcy. It was quite a strain
to deal with my own anger and sorrow over Lee while
facing the challenges of temp work and job-hunting. And
trying not to scream about the messy house. (I think I did
some screaming, even so.) I was also concerned about
John. He’d had a number of stressful events recently,
including the death of his mother in 1992. This was way
too soon for another major loss.

All too quickly, Lee had to stay at the VA. It was
shocking to see him losing abilities and stamina. Giovanna
was a lot more upbeat than I imagine I would be under
such circumstances. Friends visited when they could, but
there were still a lot of lonely hours.

On Christmas Eve, we came by to drop off a few gifts
and say hello. We looked through a photo album that Lee
and Giovanna had compiled of his life up to the mid-70s
or so. I had to fight back tears many times as I looked at
Lee as a boy, a young man, a father... and know that the
man in the hospital bed would have very little future.

Lee Pelton died at age 45 on December 29, 1994.

Friends hosted a memorial gathering on January 1. It
was well attended and there was no doubt that twice that
many would have come if possible. Lee had been es-
tranged from his family for years, so it was quite a surprise
to have his father get in touch just before Lee died. Lee’s
father, brothers, ex-wife, daughter, and grandson were
able to be at the memorial. They shared some memories
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and were appreciative to hear what had happened to Lee
since he’d dropped out of sight. Many people spoke of
how Lee had touched their lives. No glossing-over made
him out to be a saint, though. In fact, there was a lot of
laughter as people described his, uh, strongmindedness
and bluntness. There was plenty of gratitude, and some
tears. However, Lee hadn’t wanted people to be sad and
the mood eventually shifted to that of a mellow party, as
he’d preferred.

The world still doesn’t seem quite right. There are so
many images that keep coming to mind that I haven’t
mentioned! Lee cuddling with his cat, running the film
program at Minicon, taking care of a significant other who
needed tending, chatting with friends, waxing enthusiasti-
cally about videos, the Wall of Salsa Bottles with bizarre
names and labels, and... Ah well, that’s enough from me. I
trust that other people will fill in more of the picture from
their viewpoints. I also hope that other folks will drop a
line to Rune with their own reminiscences.

Take care out there, Lee. I'm grateful to you for many
things. I hope you're getting all of the cuddling,
SMOFing, rummaging, music, collecting, and snacking
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BE-fit vs. Vegetology
An Examination of Major Religions
Opecial to Milky Way Today
by Religion Correspondant, Lloyd Preservus
(Intercepted by Etherwave Surfer David € Romm)

Vegetology:
Everyone has a vegetable, spice and a condiment , which
both reflect and rule aspects of your life. You determine

this by taste and experience: eg Eggplant/Ginger/Relish.

BE-fit, The Bowman-Emerson
Fannish Inventory of Type:

Everyone’s personality revolves around these four axes:

Media/Print (M/P)
Fannish/Sercon (F/S)
Con/Zine (C/Z)
FIAWOL/FIAJAGH (W/])

People are designated by their four letter Type: eg, PFZW,
and if an axis is smack dab in the middle that designation

is an X, eg XSC]

Romm’s Corollary to Clarke’s Law: Any sufficiently
advanced philosophy is indistinguishable from religion.

Dateline: Year of Our Moonlanding 5,271,009

The hostilities between by the Curry System and the
Fijagh Empire have concluded with the Broccoli/Hyphen
Accord. While the big news is the end of the longstanding
conflict which has caused the death of several billion
people and three indigenous races, it is also signals the
end of the religious conflict which has dominated the last
two millenia. Much has been written about this conflict,
but a brief overview of the root causes is warranted.

On Old Old Earth, two of the biggest phylum of pre-
electronic hardcopy were Cook Books and Diet Books.
The people were lost in the spiritual garden. Vegetololgy
started as a series of Fanzine articles and testifying at
Conventions by Founding Farmers Elise (“I Yam what I
Yam”) Matheson and Sharon (“If it doesn’t have onions in
it, it better be dessert”) Kahn. That the Root of
Vegetology was nourished in the fertile soil of the BE-fit
purview was later a cause of both indigestion and common
ground. Soon, seedling thoughts had spread to the pulpits
and talk shows all over the planet. Disbelievers were
weeded out Secular authorities tried to halt the growth of
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Vegetology with anti--stalking laws, but the the flock kept
coming to the Farmer’s Market for spiritual nourishment.
The religion can be summed up with this major tenant:
You are what you eat.

As the religion grew and flavored more and more
lives, cults and sects spread. The Fruitarian Heresy, after
much strife, was allowed into the Recipe of Life. The Ovo-
Lactorians claimed further restrictions on diet, but were
constantly at odds with Jews for Cheeses. The Fiber
Sects, the Oat Quakers and the Bran Davidians, tried to
keep all life regular.

BE-fit derived from the proto-cult of the Myers-Briggs
Personality Inventory. The religion’s catechism is a series
of questions which determine where you are on four major
personality axes. It started out as a system for modeling
and interpreting behavior, not a relion. But then again, so
did Dianetics. The original epiphany was by First Editors
Jeanne Bowman and David Emerson, hence the name.
They saw how George Bush got burned, and it was
revealed to them that a test to indicate how you thought
about issues relevant to Fandom was good. It’s hard to
believe now, but at the time of the revelation, Fandom was
barely known outside of a small group and Fans had little
political power. The original range of questions was
developed by Editors of the Flame Steve Glennon and
DavE Romm, and honed by Glennon, Romm, Emerson
and First Consulting Editor Barb Jensen. Introduced at
Reinconation III, in Year of Our Moonlanding 24, it was
an immediate sensation. The first True Believers and the
necessary balance of the Doubting Unbelievers were
revealed there.

Soon, BE-fit had expanded from a way to help Fans
communicate with each other to a Way which Believers
could establish their Special E-Mail Account with the
Creator. They were granted Net Privs with the Sysop of
Cyberspace. It was a matter of being in the right place at
the nght time; ‘Beefies’ and ‘Fitters’ were on the Fast Lane
of the Information Superhighway.

It is difficult to call variants on BE-fit ‘heresies’ before
the Dimensions of Life were established, but some did



create false axes. There were attempts to add a Dog/Cat
axis, but that can be determined in one question. Those
who clarmed the axes were too specific to Fandom were
thrown into the Myers-Brig. One of the early tries at
reconciliation was the genetically altered Vegetable/Spice/
Condiment triple axis, but this got poor ratings during
Sweeps Week.

After these humble and occasionally violent begin-
nings, the religions grew, supplanting local worship.
Religions based on achieving an afterlife died off when
contact with the Flatliner race determined that God did
not communicate through one book, but by interactive
media. By seeing a virtual afterlife, people could get a
good read on how their life was going. After a few millenia,
those diehards waiting for the Third Coming just couldn’t
find dates, so their race died off. Any religion based on
ancestor worship found that there were too many people
at family gatherings who couldn’t get along. Recombinant
DNA and nanotechnology made dietary restrictions
irrelevant. Religions based on reincarnation couldn’t find
enough people for caste parties.

By the time of the first Meganium, Vegetology and
BE-fit had become the dominant religions throughout
Known and Suspected Space. These religions do not,
now, seen mutually incompatible. There was no reason
that, for example, Fourth Meganium Over-President
McMoishe, a Celery/Pepper/Chutney, couldn’t get along
with Junior Executive Al-Ras O'Tomisha,a MSZW, but
you know how it goes. They both kept admonishing the
other until hostilities broke out, and the Scold War lasted
over 5,000 years.
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The Curry System established itself in the last
Meganium by distributing favors among the followers of of
Vegetology. It dominated the Spice Trade between
Andromeda and the Cauliflower Cluster. That brought it
into immediate conflict with the growing Fijagh Empire,
who wanted to have a mustard-tasting panel at their
Conventions. At first they didn’t care that much, as
Befitting their ] axis, but after a few hundred years of
store-bought yellow mustard, the leaders began to get
testy. The Concom held an Organizational Meeting, and it
was decided to go to war. The Curry Chefs responded
with a Bamboo Shoot. Slowly, the conflict simmered,
coming to a boil and adding other religious disputes as
side dishes and apazines. At last, the stalemate in the
Twiltone System forced peace talks last year, leading to the
Broccoli/Hyphen Accord. The peace talks reached
fruition despite initial disagreements about which hotel to
use, and what kind of dip will be used at official functions.

Most major rhubarbs are more politically based
than religion based, of course, and this one was no
exception, being about control of trade and resources.
But some of the more radical elements really hate each
other on religious grounds. The Spicy Vegetologists
and the XXXX Milksops will probably never sit at the
same table. Still, many people did expand their phi-
losophies to include both, and there is once again
Good Food in Consuites.

So let us rest under the Palm Tree of Peace, as
the Opening Ceremonies of a New Convention of

Harmony begin.



’ Qememger Do”q

by Alexis A. Gilliland

Editor’s Note: I did not mean for this Rune to be an issue
of memorials, but after Dolly died 3 years ago, Alexis
sent me this piece for Rune, and I very much wanted to
print it (even though it has been delayed for so long.) I
lived 1n Dolly and Alexis’ neighborhood in Arlington,
Virginia for several years in the late 1970’s, and went

to many a local SF club meeting at “Doll’s House.”
Although Dolly was and Alexis 1s an East Coast fan, they
traveled much the byways of fandom, and were in
Minneapolis for the 1989 Corflu—Geri has photos of
Dolly and Alexis sitting on our couch at the Monday
night party to prove it. People don’t come along in
fandom much more wonderful than Dolly Gilliland.

—Jdf

Up to a point this is pretty much Dolly’s official version of
what happened in her life. Dolly’s mother, Elizabeth
Gorfain, was born about 1910 to a wealthy Jewish family
near Vilnius Lithuania. The family left for the US with a
small fortune as the Russian Revolution took hold, but
was unable convert their currency, and arrived impover-
ished in the promised land. She married Kohlman Cohen
while very young, (Kohlman changed the family name to
Cohle, pronounced Cole, in 1951) and had two children,
a son, Abba born about 1926 and Dorothea, born January
20, 1930. Because of health problems, she was unable to
bear any more children. Not unnaturally Elizabeth lived a
lot in her fantasies, and Dolly, her second and last child,
was the reluctant object of some of them.

The short form of what could well be one of those
four volume Mother & Daughter trilogies is that what
Elizabeth wanted for/from her daughter was for Dolly to
get married to a nice Jewish boy and live in Harrisburg
and have babies for her to visit and play with. This is not
an unreasonable expectation, and one that any number of
daughters have fulfilled for any number of mothers simply
for want of anything better to do. Dolly, however, was
different because she had a very clear idea of something
better to do and from a very early age. Enormously
talented musically, she enjoyed performing and making
audiences happy, and that is what she wanted to do She
had no interest in getting married, or making babies, and
eventually she found Harrisburg totally boring, a place to
be gotten away from

At the start of World War 11, in early 1942, Abba,
Dolly’s older brother, enlisted in the Army, while Dolly,

age 12, began playing the piano in the Harrisburg USO to
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support the troops. She was not only good, but with most
of the men in service, she was the best there was, and local
bands scraping around to find talent picked her up. She
became a member of James Petrillo’s AFofL. Musicians
Union that same year, playing in clubs where she was so
obviously under the drinking age that nobody dreamed of
carding her. Was she a professional musician? Absolutely,
even though she was a minor living at home, she made a
substantial contribution to the the family income. Later,
when she went to college, she was exempted from the 11
PM curfew because she was working late hours to help pay
her way through school.

College. If her mother had wanted her to meet a nice
Jewish boy and get married, the natural place to go would
have been Penn State. However, her mother also wanted
her to be closer to home and Abba had used the GI Bill to
go down the road a piece to Lebanon Valley College, so it
was a place she knew about. Despite being a missionary
college (United Bretheren Evangelical) little Lebanon
Valley had an excellent conservatory, and Dolly gradu-
ated with a BS in musical education from the college,
and a BA in piano from the conservatory. Dolly audi-
tioned at Julliard in New York, and was offered a full
scholarship, which she turned down. Partly, she said,
because she felt sorry for those students who were
devoting endless hours to practice, and partly because
she felt that New York would have been more of a
distraction than she could cope with.

That summer she studied folk music at the Univer-
sity of Mexico in Mexico City and took a course of folk
dancing on the side. She was always a good dancer, and
had a wonderful time. Her fellow students there just
naturally pronounced her new family name, Cohle, to
rhyme with ole’. Dolly felt Cohle’ had a little more dash
than Cohle, and kept the Latin pronunciation of her
name. In Mexico City she also met the great muralist,
Diego Rivera, and told him he couldn’t draw women—
that he just put breasts on men. He laughed and
propositioned her.

When she came home, the conflict between what
mother and daughter wanted finally came to a head. After
reaching the age of 21 and graduating from college, Dolly
wanted and expected to play jazz in nightclubs In retro-
spect, the jazz musician whom Dolly felt was closest to
what she might have been was Nina Simone, popular with
the cognoscenti, but just a little too musicianly to ever
make the really big time.

Her mother wanted what she wanted; she couldn’t
help it. Dolly should get married and live in Harrisburg,
or, all right, teach music for a few years, and then get
married and live in Harrisburg. She shouldn’t play in



clubs; musicians were bums, drunkards, and dope
addicts. No compromise was possible, but when Florida
State offered Dolly a full scholarship to study piano, it was
possible to put the decision off for a time. While in
Florida, Dolly began playing in clubs again, and in
Harrisburg her mother, suspecting the worst, worried
herselfinto a heart attack.

That was the end of Dolly’s musical career; she could
not bring herself to go on playing if it was going to kill her
mother. That fall she accepted an offer to teach music at a
little town called Mountain Top, turning down an offer to
play in New York, at Birdland—THE Birdland, the big
time—for about five times as much money.

It is the nature of these generational conflicts that
neither side gets what they really want. Dolly gave up
playing, true, but she wasn’t living in Harrisburg and she
wasn’t the least bit interested in getting married, so her
mother had won the most hollow of victories. She taught
music for four years in four different schools (usually she
turned in her resignation by November because of con-
flicts with the various supervising principals) in Pennsyl-
vania to get her permanent teachers certificate, and then
went south to teach in Bethesda, MD, in the 54-55 school
year. Her parents urged her to get out and meet people, so
one night a week she went down to the Lafayette Square
USO, an old, converted theater (another building that
isn’t there anymore, although they preserved the facade)
across the street from the Treasury Building, and that is
where I met her. January ’55 is probably the time, because
for her birthday, on January 20th, I gave her a 25-cent
cactus plant, and that would have been after meeting her
once before.

Dolly quit teaching at the end of the ’55-'56 school
year; she had developed a severe, chronic cough which
had no physical basis, but vanished the day after school
was out. She went to work downtown for the Depart-
ment of Agriculture and took a room at Hartnet Hall, at
that time the world’s largest boarding house She was on
P Street, near 22nd, while I had gotten out of the Army
and moved into an apartment at 2104 0 St. in January
1956. Eventually we ran into each other on the street,
and discovered we were neighbors sometime in the
summer or fall of ’56. There was, you will be aston-
ished to learn, a party circuit at Hartnet Hall, and Dolly
introduced me to it.

Meanwhile, back in Harrisburg, her mother, Eliza-
beth, fretted about her little girl becoming an old maid,
and urged her to join the Jewish Community Center to
meet some nice Jewish boys. Dolly, always noted for a
somewhat warped sense of humor brought home a ‘nice’
Jewish magazine salesman, appalling her mother who
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backed off. When I got to know Dolly, I found that she
was, would you believe, subject to really bad depressions.
Thinking back, one of the pivotal incidents in my court-
ship was surely coming to her room one evening and
finding her so blue that she’d let me in because it was me,
but wouldn’t talk. Undaunted, I told her a children’s story,
about the Greedy Goroo, and the avenging cheese that ate
him up and became the Moon, (if you look at the full
Moon, children, you can just see the Greedy Goroo
inside) and when I went out she wasn’t depressed any
more. In the winter of °58-’59 I proposed marriage, and
Dolly gave me a conditional acceptance: She would marry
me if her mother didn’t object. She was then 29 years old,
and she had an excellent fix on her mother’s thinking.
Kohlman, her father, liked me at once, but he didn’t really
have much to say about it.

In spite of Dolly saying that 40 was a good age to get
married, I really believe that I was the only serious suitor
that she had ever presented, or ever intended to present.
She had been forced to go straight against her will, and
wasn’t looking to get married, but for the right man, for
me, she made an exception. In as masterful a display of
strategic thinking as it has ever been my pleasure to
witness, Dolly anticipated her mother’s objections and
manuvered to circumvent them before they could ever be
raised. I converted to Judaism, and we were married in
Temple on August 29, 1959.

I have said that she was a musician, but she had other
talents as well. When Dolly was in grade school, they gave
an eye examination every year. Dolly was seriously near
sighted, and needed glasses, but she passed the exam
every year until she was in grade six by going into the
room before the exam and memorizing the eyechart before
the test. Compensation. Living with her weak sight she
compensated by learning to interpret those fuzzy images
her optic nerve was sending to her brain, and instead of
merely seeing, she began to perceive. When she got her
glasses, a whole new world opened up for her, but she had
already learned perception, so she saw more than you
would imagine was there, and she sorted it out faster

At work, she used her sense of perception to figure
out what the bureaucracy was doing. She would tell me
about it, and her day at work was strangely more
interesting than my own, because her natural curiosity
took her into the strangest places. Once she figured out
how the promotion game was played, she became a
management analyst, and one of the best. She could
look at a spreadsheet—this was before the days of
computers, remember—and once she was familiar with
it, a wrong number would jump out at her. I had my
doubts, but her father said the same thing happened



with him, and recently our son Charles has started to
do experience the same phenomonon.

In 32 years of marriage there is just way too much
stuff to put into a fanzine article. A few anecdotes will have
to do, the first from the very beginning. A couple of weeks
before the marriage we ran into Fabio Convers, a mutual
friend, and he invited us to visit his parents, in Bogota,
Columbia, for our honeymoon. I said: Why not? Dolly
was astonished, but since Fabio’s father had connections
in the diplomatic corps, there weren’t any problems with
passports, only with the tickets, and we drove down to
Miami, Florida to catch a flight to Bogota on stand-by
going down, and on stand-by coming back. In the event
there was no problem, and no adventures worse than
having my pocket picked on a bus, or fleabites from the
little puppy that came into our bedroom sometimes It was
a very happy time, and a memorable one.

The second can be from as near the middle as makes
any difference. In 1974 we moved to Arlington, and
because I was in correspondence with Susan Wood, we
were somewhat involved with the fan fund to bring Mae
Strelkov up from Argentina to Discon II. The money had
been raised, and the question was how to handle the
details? Dolly suggested that we invite Mae up in advance
of the con, to give her a chance to get oniented before
plunging into the worldcon maelstrom. Susan agreed, and
we arranged for the tickets, taking a short vacation down at
Nag’s Head with Mae, who hadn’t seen the ocean since
she was a child, and Charles. After we got back, Susan
Wood came down a day early to visit with us and Mae.
After Discon II, Mae bought a Greyhound bus pass and
went travelling all over the country. Dolly told her to be
sure and see the Grand Canyon, and she did, confessing
to being very, very, impressed. While she was galivanting
around the Estados Unidas, Mae’s husband, Vadim,
continued to write Mae at our address. One night Mae
called from the bus station. Just passing through, on the
way to New England, she said, just thought I'd say hello.
Dolly told her she ought to come over and spend the night
in a real bed for a change, and, dear, we do have some mail
for you from Vadim. Mae came over, read the mail, and
went back to Argentina the next day.

What did Doll do at Discon II? Well, according to
Harlan Ellison, she saved his life. The details? She was
directing and producing and playing the piano for a
musical, “2001, A Space Opera,” which she had helped
me write by kindly telling me that what I had just done
wouldn’t do, and why. (And some of the changes were
very late in coming My original opening, which she had
really liked, was “When you’re an ape, you’re an ape all
the way,” taken from “West Side Story.” After the second
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rehearsal she said: “The cast can’t cut it, write something
else. Ouch.) We had an all star cast, including most of the
con committee, and we went on as the warmup for
Harlan’s presentation of a rough cut version of “A Boy
And His Dog.” We played to standing room only, in the
main ballroom, and got a standing ovation. Then Harlan
rushed up to put the movie screen in place before we
could give an encore. The techies never were able to make
the sound track work, and he later told us that the audi-
ence didn’t lynch him after hours of frustration because
they’d already been entertained.

The last anecdote is from the fall and winter of 1990.
When Dolly was young, she helped her mother with the
shopping, and because money was so tight, she’d walk to
all three grocery stores near her house—about a ten block
range—to price the vegetables they were going to buy
Then Dolly would go back to the cheapest one so as to
save the extra pennies. I didn’t always share this enthusi-
asm for value, but at the time in question we were rou-
tinely going out to the shopping malls to give Dolly an
outing, and a little exercise.

At Springfield Mall, we saw the clerks stocking this
very nice jacket, golden wool, a replacement for one I
should have retired from service many years before. It was
priced at, oh, say, $160. “That’s too high,” said Dolly.
“They’ll mark it down in a week or two.” So I played the
waiting game with her. Sure enough, the jacket price came
down, to $140, $120, $99, to $85, about three weeks
before Christmas. We bought it at $85. “It may come
down another five dollars,” said Dolly, who had been
debating getting it at $99, “but this 1s the last one in your
size.” The next time we saw the jackets, they were on sale
for $95, two for $180. Sometimes the simplest things
make you the happiest, and getting the very best value on
that coat pleased Dolly more than I can tell you.




The Zen Cosmic Sinkhole

by Steve Perry

Today’s bit of silliness concerns one of the most
mysterious and baffling (not to mention underfunded)
areas of research:

The Zen Cosmic Sinkhole!

The Zen Cosmic Sinkhole was first discovered
1923 by Waine Krolke of Twin Falls Idaho, while
working in his study late one night trying to find a
shorter trade route to Fargo.

Waine had just flipped the page of his Oscar Homolka
Special Edition World Atlas and turned to pick up his
sandwich (a ham and cheese on white with mayo and the
crusts cut off), when he made a startling discovery.

His sandwich was gone!

At first, he suspected the family dog had snuck in and
grabbed it, but then he remembered that he had neither
dog nor family. This Epiphany led to an astounding
realization: He was alone as well as peckish.

Stunned by this revelation, he began an exhaustive
search of his desk - a used Samsonite “Cardo Supremo”
(with real fake leatheroid dealing surface) - but to no avail.
The sandwich had mysteriously disappeared.

Given this bizarre turn of events, Waine knew he had
but one recourse: Make another sandwich.

As he returned from the kitchen with the new
sandwich firmly in hand, he was fully determined to
consume it with all due haste and vigor and return to
his maps and charts.

He took a bite of sandwich and set it down in the
usual place (marked by numerous oil stains from leaking
mayo) intent upon a possible route via the Tehachapi
Pass.

He ascertained that rerouting trade through Barstow
might not realize a great enough savings in time to be
profitable, and once more reached for his sandwich only
to receive the gravest shock of his evening.

There were now TWO sandwiches on the mayo-
stained card table. And it was exactly where he remem-
bered putting the first one earlier!

When the profound shock of this discovery had
worn off to the point where he could think - and eat -
clearly, he realized that he was on the trail of a secret so
profound that no one speaks of it to this day.

Waine promptly named the effect the Zen Cosmic
Sinkhole - or ZCS for short - for reasons now both

dubious and obscure. He commenced a long series of
carefully planned experiments consisting of taking
ordinary household items, placing them near at hand,
turning to a different task, and then returning to retrieve
the previously placed item.

By keeping careful records, noting the type of item,
times of occurrence, and duration of disappearance [or
“gonitude” (pronounced gone-i-tood) as Waine preferred
to call it], he soon had a large enough collection of data to
encourage him to apply for a research grant from major
universities and 1nstitutions.

All of them turned him down flat.

Undeterred, he sought help from whatever dubious
source he could find. His searches ultimately brought him to
a small edifice of higher learning in Arkham, Massachusetts.

He was immediately given an Impure Research Grant,
an office/lab in a disused basement broomcloset of the
Women’s Gym, and a small stipend which kept him in
ham and cheese with mayo sandwiches quite comfortably.

There, Krolke continued his delvings which lasted
through the end of his life in 1929. He was found after the
Annual Research Faculty/Staff Christmas Party and
Banishing Ritual; his body mysteriously shredded,
drained of all bodily fluids, and missing its brain.

Arkham Police Chief, Charlie “Three Eyes” Chtullu

ruled it “the damnedest suicide I ever saw.”




However, his efforts won him the coveted Ehas P.
Bonewacker Chair (Posthumous) in the Department of
Really Weird Stuff at Miskatonic University.

But who cares.

Most modern scholars of the Phenomenology of
Missing Stuff generally agree that the great and difficult
work done by Waine Krolke was, in the words of Tangram
J- Monsanto “doggie doodle”.

However, in light of recent evidence and the return of
the Democratic Party with a viable presidential candidate
for 1992, more researchers are returning to Waine
Krolke’s seminal works.

Most notable of these is “Where’d It Go?; a Study
into Goneolgy (with 8 pages of startling photographs)”
Published by Miskatonic U. Press, 69pp, ill., $19.95.

In this weighty tome, Krolke postulates small pocket
universes, similar to the ones in women’s purses. But,
whereas the Purse Universe can contain a volume of
(mostly useless) objects sufficient to sink a moderate sized
supertanker, the Zen Cosmic Sinkhole is only large
enough to contain one or at most three items of moderate
mass, such as a screwdriver, a cup of coffee, or a small
yappy dog.

And where the Purse Universe (or PU, as Krolke dubbed
it) was accessible - though only to women as we fellows have
discovered while looking for the car keys in our wife’s or
grlfriend’s purses -, the ZCS was a capricious and randomly
selective phenomena which took and gave back what and

when it damn well pleased. Much like the IRS.

More recent experiments show that the ZCS tends to
take items based on (among other criteria) their usefulness
at the time of disappearance.

Hence, an artist or writer may discover that his/her
pen or pencil has been captured at the precise moment of
Ultimate Inspiration, only to be returned to exactly the
same spot from whence it disappeared and only after the
artist or writer has 1) made a furious and exhaustive search
of the work surface and surrounding area, 2) torn up the
rest of the room while threatening mayhem on family,
friends, and pets, and - most importantly -3) forgotten
what they were going to do with the tool or instrument in
the first place.

Attempts have been made to link the ZCS phenom-
enon to the Bermuda (and, to a lesser extent the Wiscon-
sin) Triangle, but as of this writing, nothing has come of
that line of investigation.

It may be safely inferred, however, that the ZCS has
been responsible for more frustration than the Documen-
tation Division of the Microsoft Corporation.

While the serious investigation of the Zen Cosmic
Sinkhole continues at a rate which would astound its
discoverer it is safe to say that it probably won’t come to
any conclusions in the foreseeable future. And even ifit
does, who would really give a flat rat’s anal orifice anyway?

Now where did I put that disk? It was just here a minute
ago. Ah, c’mon! I just used it! Where the Hell IS IT?!
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Los Angeles Science Fiction Society History

19565-61
by Ted ]ohnstone

What is this prece doing tn Rune, I'm sure some puzzled readers will be asking. Well, read it (because I doubt you’ve ever
run across it before) and be a good sport about it. If nothing else, the Mineapa/APA-L mailing exchange connection should
provide some resonance. I read this piece in the 10th grade—1968—and it made me want to run away from home to a city
where fans hung out together and did neat stuff. If you’ve never done that, you should try it sometime. Originally pub-
lished in John D. Berry’s Foolscap #6 in 1968, as the text of a speech given to the LASFS, and reprinted once since (or so
T was told, but I forget where) I am reprinting it here with Bjo Trimble’s wonderful original illustrations.

The topic of this evening’s entertainment is supposed to
be something along the lines of “LASFS History from
1956 to 1961, as I lived it.” Fortunately I was given a lot of
advance warning on this, and for the last few months I've
been dredging up bits and pieces of memories from ten
years ago. And let’s not mention that again—that’s more
than a third of my whole life, already.

This is quite a time, though. In a way, it was the most
important 5-year period in the whole history of the club,
and I was lucky enough to see it through all the way from
start to finish. In 1956 the club was withered, feeble, and
fossihizing. Five years later in 1961, the L.A.S.F.S. was
once again the spiritual home of True Fandom.

Let me reach a little farther into the past than my early
limit, and explain that, some years earlier, the publication
of Ah, Sweet Idiocy! had nearly shattered the club, and the
shock weakened it through a few years of fading. When
Willis stopped by in 1952, there were still enough people
around to give him a good welcome. But by 1954, LASFS
had very much faded from its position of eminence. This
was the period of the two- or three-member meeting, the
loss of communication with the outside world. Only the
Outsiders kept publishing from time to time.

About this time I answered an ad in one of Ray Palmer’s
magazines—he would run free classified ads for his reader;
marvelous things—and got in touch with George Fields,
another stf reader, interested in the historical and literary
aspects of Science Fiction. Somehow or other he had gotten
hold of strange mimeographed things on multicolored paper,
and they were called “fanzines.”

Well, I'd heard about fandom. About two years earlier
had been wandering through my local library when one of
the librarians—all of whom know me on sight—informed me
that somebody was speaking about astronomy there at
their regular Tuesday Evening Improving Lecture Senes,
and he was a science fiction writer.
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This really excited me, and I made it a point to come
to the lecture. The speaker was Dr. Robert S. Richardson
—Doc Richardson, back when he and fandom were on
speaking terms—Philip Latham to dozens of slobbering
readers all over the world. His talk wandered here and
there. I can’t recall at all what his subject was. But at one
point he said something about “fandom,” and fished a
little booklet, about 2%z by 3% inches, out of a pocket,
and held it up.

“I don’t know just where I got this,” he said, “but it
tells about this ‘fandom.’ If anybody’s interested, they can
have it.”

Well, I popped right up there after the lecture and got
it. I also got his autograph as the first pro I ever met. I took
the booklet right home and read it. It was called What s
Science Fiction Fandom, and it was published by some-
thing called the National Fantasy Fan Federation. It
contained several short articles by people I'd never heard
of—names like Bob Tucker, Art Rapp, Forrest J. Ackerman—
on various aspects of this ‘fandom’ business. And it
sounded pretty frightening. All these groovy, sharp people
with their own little world, writing back and forth, and
publishing their own material—and it sounded just
marvelous, but far far above my head. I decided I could
never compete with a crowd like that—and besides, there
was nothing in the booklet about how to get in touch wath
this ‘fandom’ if you were interested.

So I put the booklet away with a sigh and regrets, and
didn’t think of it again until George pulled out these
things called ‘fanzines, and I connected the two.

Well, I started reading these fanzines. And some of
them were pretty awful. George was all enthusiastic about
raising money and starting our own fanzine, but he really
didn’t have any idea how to go about it. So we kind of
looked around, and advertised, and picked up a few more
kids our ages who were interested in stf, and formed



Twentieth Century Fandom. Actually, George had
invented it before I came along, but the treasurer had gone
to South Carolina with all the records.

And then finally George discovered Forrest .
Ackerman, and I remembered the name. This was
somebody important in fandom! George got in touch with
him, and I even talked to him on the phone once. And
then he told George about the Westercon in Oakland that
summer, and about the LASFS. George talked me and
another friend of ours who grew up to be Steve Tolliver,
into coming along. Two weeks before the Westercon
George went to the LASFS and joined, and then came
home and told me all about it. The following week I went
downtown with him on the streetcar to a large room in the
half-basement portion of an old hotel, called the Prince
Rupert. The window along one side near the ceiling ran
along the sidewalk outside.

The walls were painted light green on either side
and white on the ends. The floor was dark red, and the
ceiling was blue. Great flakes of the blue would come
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off occasionally and shatter on the floor. All across the
end of the room where a sort of head table stood were
scrawled autographs of all the famous people that had
been there. George told me the walls were the artistic

work of Mel Hunter, by that time quite a rising young
cover artist.

The clubroom also had several shelves of stf—
books and magazines, some of which I’d never seen
before! Naturally I joined at once, and my membership
card was signed by Ray Capella just before he was
voted out and Rick Sneary was elected director in his
place. Sadly, that card was lost, then found, then finally
lost again about 1961.

The meetings were generally small, around that time.
I remember the One Thousandth Meeting—there were
over a hundred people there, filling the room and over-
flowing into the halls. I was still terribly impressed—there
were people there like A.E. van Vogt, and Ray Bradbury,
and Charles Beaumont, and Richard Matheson, and lots
of people I'd heard of.

But the meetings were generally small. I remember
one three-member meeting in early 1957—Forry, myself,
and I can’t remember who the third one was. Possibly
Barney Bernard.

In April of 1957, something called a Fanquet
happened. Forry had been to Europe, and everyone
decided to give him a testimonial dinner on his return.
I took copious notes, and wrote up the whole affair in
my very first own fanzine. Dittoed, half-subsidized by
Forry, mailed to total strangers. But there it was. And I
remember the night I took an armload of the fresh
copies to the club—and Ray Bradbury had just decided
to drop in, with his buddy, Chuck Beaumont. It was
quite a marvelous thing.

Our noises rose through the windows to the street
above, and almost every week people would look in and
openly ask us what was going on. What we told them
depended on how we felt at the moment.

This evening a little old lady spent some time looking
in at us, and finally Ray wandered wide-eyed over to look
up at her with that big teddy-bear smile of his, and she
asked him, “Who are you people?”

He spread his arms wide and told her brightly,
“These are all science fiction people, and I am Moby
Dick!” He had just finished the film with Huston, at the
time. She looked startled, and fled.

Some time around this period, we fell in with Len
Moffatt and Rick Sneary, and became sort of honorary
Outlanders. We, once again, is George and myself, and
most of the time Tolliver. We helped Len put out the first
few issues of SCIENCES FICTION PARADE, a very



sercon little mag plugging for South Gate in ’58. As early
as the fall of 1956 I put in my first real fanac slipsheeting
for SFP #1.

All1n all, it was a quiet, peaceful, stagnant period.
Nothing much happened—we couldn’t afford to go to
Worldcons in places like New York or London, but the
Westercons were available in LA or the Bay Area. We got
fanzines from the rest of the world, and read about
fantastic people like Walt Willis and Ted White, and Ving
Clarke and S&y S&erson, and Bob Shaw and Bob Tucker
and something in New York called a “Nunnery.” But we
never saw these people. Forry, of course, saw them every
Con, and knew them all personally.

Rick Sneary said once, about this time, “Just as many
fantastic fannish things happen to us as to Irish Fandom—
we just don’t have a Willis or Berry to write them down.”

But, sometime in 1957 a new face entered the club—a
very fetching face, with red hair above it and blue-green
eyes with flecks of gold, and freckles. And she looked
around, and said to herself, “This is a nice little club. I
think I'll make something out of it.”

I can remember one night in late 57 when she and
George and Steve and I were sitting around at George’s,
and she was dashing off cartoons and saying clever things,
and Steve Tolliver gave her a long considering look out of
nowhere, and said, “I think you should be a BNF.”

She said, “Who? Me?” and Toliver nodded.

He said, “I’ll bet I can make you a BNF inside of two
years.” We all started off by laughing, and ended up
inventing a fanzine called MIMSY, which Steve would edit
and she would decorate. Her name was Betty Jo Welles,
but she signed here artwork Bjo.

The fanzine started coming out regularly, and pretty
soon people started showing up to write for it. Ron Ellik,a
bright young squirrel just out of Junior College; Jack
Harness, a bright young kook just out from Pittsburgh:
and a whole bunch of other bright young people.

About this time the Solacon suddenly became an
impending reality. South Gate in 58 had paid off. And
purely in search of an inside view of just what was going
on, I got on the con committee, in a menial position.

A few other things were happening about the same
time. Bjo’s marriage had broken up, and she was in rocky
shape. But even then she was directing more of her
interest toward the club. I remember one night in the
spring of 1958 when she and George and Steve and I and
a couple other people were driving to George’s place for
the second stage of a party, and she said she’d been
thinking about getting the LASFS started publishing
again. We could raise half the price of a duplicating
machine—not just any old duper, but a real silk-screen
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impeccably printing Gestetner!—and float an issue of
stock to cover the other half.

It looked good, and she started sounding the
LASFS on the subject. The Solacon was infusing a lot
of new spirit into the club at this time, as the eyes of the
world were glancing over to see if LA fandom as really
dead or not.

About this time, in the middle of ’58, we lost our
happy home at the Prince Rupert Apartment Hotel, and
sought temporary refuge in the home of a member—Zeke
Leppin. The temporary refuge lasted for two years, during
which time his house served as a fan center for LA and a
residence for fans who were in need of one. Jack Jardine
stayed there for a while, and Bjo and Djinn Faine lived
there as well.

Meanwhile, Twentieth Century Fandom had acquired
a few more members. Milo Mason came in and showed us
a thing or two; Rich Stevens was a welcome addition—he
had a car for when Milo was too drunk to drive; and rich
brown was quite a kid, with an enthusiasm for fandom I've
never seen matched.

Let’s see... George went gay about 1960, and has only
been see occasionally since. Tolliver is married, and
working for JPL. When I last saw Rich Stevens, he was a
graduate student in journalism at UCLA, and quite



sercon. The last time I saw Milo, he’d recently done six
months in the cooler, and was engaged in forging checks.
nich brown stayed with fandom. He’s quit it forever several
times, but he’s still present and voting.

And it was rich brown who introduced me to Paul
Stanbery, and Paul who introduced me to Coventry.

If Bjo represents the creative force in the renaissance
of the LASFS, the Coventry business represents its...if not
destruction, at least termination. Similar to the Laney feud
a decade earlier, on a smaller scale, people today are not
speaking to or of other people because of the Coventry
business and all it led to.

But all this was in the future at the Solacon. The
growing shadow of the worst New York feud of the decade
had been blackening the eastern horizon for some
months—the World Science Fiction Society, Incorpo-
rated, was biting its tail in agonies, and its thrashing was
splitting fandom down the middle. Boggled in red tape
and mutual willful misunderstandings, the whole mess
was aimed squarely at the business session of the Solacon.
Everybody was holding their breath, and the topic of
conversation most avoided was the WSFS, Inc.

The rest of the con had been wonderful. I led an
expedition out to Disneyland, then only three years old,
with about fifty fans from the convention, and had the
opportunity at last to meet some of these wonderful
people who went to conventions and did things like that.
The costume ball was highly memorable—]Jon Lackey
made his usual last-minute entrance as something ancient
and eldritch, waving a smoking urn around the room and
gibbering in a strange tongue, standing six foot nine in his
shoes, with skull-white makeup and long robes. He won
handily, then disappeared.

He and some straightmen went out to Pershing
Square, about ten o’clock on a Sunday night. Jon made
one turn around the square, in character, and paraded
back to the hotel with a couple hundred bums in tow,
convinced that this was the new Messiah. Jon ducked into
the hotel ahead of them, and appeared on the second floor
balcony with his arms thrown wide and a flashlight on his
face from below.

There’s nothing like a crowd to attract a crowd. Inside
of five minutes traffic was blocked and the police arrived.
Jon skinned up to his room, out of his costume, and down
to the basement garage and out and away. It was won-
dered, after, how long the Second Coming was talked
about in the sun-bleached beards of Pershing Square.

But the Business Session was approaching, and the
WSFS forces were gathering strength, on both sides,
for a fierce battle. And the night before the business
meeting, we all met with Tony Boucher in the Con
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Suite. Anna was expecting trouble, and the main topic
was what to do about it. It was Tony who came up with
the point that there was actually no legal relationship
between the Solacon and WSFS, Inc., and therefore
they had no place at the business meeting. And that was
what Anna told them the next day when Belle Dietz
brought the subject up before the Convention. “The
WSFS, Inc. is not the business of this Convention,”
Anna said. “The Solacon is simply a social meeting of
fandom, and has not connection with the legal prob-
lems of the World Science Fiction Society.” That ruling
sort of let the air out of the whole thing. It took a
couple or three years for the feud to die down, but it
never blew up to its former proportions after that.

* ok

Well, the Solacon let the rest of fandom know that Los
Angeles fandom was not dead. We were meeting in Zeke’s
living room and we were just on the verge of buying a
Gestetner and hadn’t published anything in years; Paul
Turner put out an issue of SHAGGY in late °56, I believe,
and George Fields brought one out in late 57 or early 58,
I seem to recall, but the idea of the LASFS publishing
fanzines was still somewhat alien.

Ron Ellik went up to Berkeley about this time, and
met a couple of fans named Terry Carr and Dave Rike,
and about that time a whole flock of New York fans
moved to San Francisco and Berkeley. Things started to
happen up there, like great big fanzines, and little
frequent fanzines—and something called FANAC. This
was a bi-weekly newszine published by Ellik and Carr
to plug the Solacon, and it just sort of kept going after
the con was over. Inside of a year, it was considered
indispensable by a majority of fandom. Its lineal
grandchild is published today by Pelz—RATATOSK.
FANAC won a Hugo, Ellik came home to LA, Carr
went to New York, Breen took over FANAC and it was
rarely seen again. Then Ron started STARSPINKLE,
and when it folded Pelz took over.

But this is out of my assigned era. The West Coast
was once again becoming a fun, fannish area, by the
middle of 1958, and when the World-con came around,
fen showed up from everywhere. Scores of people who
had only been mimeographed names and characters
suddenly showed up with glasses and loud shirts, and saw
that these were indeed real people they’d been hearing
about in Los Angeles. Well, most of them. Carl Brandon
never showed up at the Convention.

Then the LASFS got its Gestetner. We all stood
around the big white table in Zeke’s living room while the
salesman set it up and gave us all a one-hour course in
how to run the thing. He wasn’t quite sure what to make of



this bunch of strange-looking people buying a machine
which usually went to large offices, but after a while he got
to like the idea. He hung around for years, visited the club
a couple of imes and helped us out with repairs, supplies
and advices. His name was Brian Storey, and he was quite
a fine gentleman.

The first issue of the new SHAGGY came out, and
people all over the country looked up and smiled. They'd
heard about Bjo in the zines from the Berkeley Boys, who
commuted back and forth along the 400-mile strip of
California that separates the Bay Area from here, and
they’d seen her cartoons and artwork in several fanzines.
And here she was editing good old SHAGGY; this should
be fun. Well, it was.

SHAGGY attracted the attention of several people.
One of them was a college student in Florida who’d read a
biographical sketch of a LASFS member in SHAGGY.
They met at Detention in September 1959, and formed a
friendship which has terrified generations. The Flondian,
by this time a college graduate looking for a place to start,
was Bruce Pelz, and the LASFSian was me. Pelz looked
over the LA crew, and decided they were his people.
There were a lot of em too. Bjo had organized a caravan
with about eight or ten or twelve people in three cars, and
we’d brought most of the inner circle of LASFS.

Pelz joined the caravan on the trip back to LA. He
looked around for a month or so, then went home. But he
was back with a small truckload of possessions about the
end of the year.

About this time John Trimble got out of the service,
and he hit town about the same time as Pelz, looking for a
place to live. Bjo was getting tired of Zeke’s cooking by
this time, and was a little better off financially, so she and
Djinn Faine also went house-hunting. I don’t know
whether the discoveries were made simultaneously or not,
but they ended up in two tiny apartments a couple of
blocks apart on the top of a hill overlooking the Civic
Center on one side and Chavez Ravine on the other. John
and Bruce moved again shortly to an impossibly tiny
house on the other side of Bjo’s a block and a half. They
were joined there by Ernie Wheatley, and from time to
time by other fans who needed beds or floor space. And
gradually the centers of fannish consciousness began to
focus around these two apartments on what was to
become known as Fan Hill. The name was given by
Rotsler, and the apartments were specified as the Right
Breast and the Left Breast, but I have never met anyone
who can be sure of having them straight as to which was
which, except possibly Rotsler.

More people started arriving in town from about the
country, and fans whose only activity had been going into
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the apas for years suddenly started appearing at meetings
and parties. They needed a better location. Bjo’s apart-
ment was about ten by thirty, plus a kitchen; the other
place was a perfectly square foundation, twenty by twenty,
divided into living room, dining room, bedroom and
kitchen by four quadrating walls. The bath was squeezed
between the bedroom and kitchen. A marvel of compact-
ness and efficiency, but somewhat crowded with three or

four people hiving there.

They found a big old house on Eighth Street, near
Vermont. It had once been a rooming house, and sported
seven bedrooms upstairs, two huge rooms, a studio, a
back workroom, a large kitchen, and miscellaneous closets
downstairs. It was more or less love at first sight. I can
remember my first look around the place, one night in the
summer of 1960. The electricity wasn’t on yet, but Bruce
wanted to show me the new fan center, and I wanted to see
it. He had a key, and we went in the back door with
flashlights. I stood in the hall downstairs and looked
around, and thought about what a lot of fun we were going
to have in this house and wondered what wonderful things
would be going on there in the next few years.

By this time SHAGGY was coming out pretty
regularly, and was well on its way toward winning a Hugo.
The regular meetings were attended by twenty-five or



thirty, and the treasury was robust enough to support
several parties a year. Everyone was getting active in apas,
and at one time very nearly all the officialdom of most of
the apas was concentrated in Los Angeles, a good portion
under the roof of this place which was called the Fan
Hillton. The Gestetner was churning out zines day and
night, there were parties every weekend at least, and
usually oftener. And there was always something going on
there. You could walk in any time there was a light on and
find someone to talk to or play cards with or hash out an
idea for a fanzine article.

In paying residence, there were Bjo and John, married
a few months earlier, Ernie Wheatley, Bruce Pelz, Jack
Harness, and Don Simpson, the full-term residents. The
other rooms were filled from one time to another by Jane
Gallion, Larry McCombs, and Karu Beltran.

Karu is worth a chapter of his own. He drifted into the
circle of fandom through someone he knew, and came to
stay at the Hillton, cooking and cleaning to cover his rent.
He was an Oriental Magician by trade, and quite a good
sleight-of-hand artist. He was also an accomplished
improvisatory cook, who could take a dollar and a half to
Grand Central Market and feed a dozen people, counting
the guests who would usually drop in. He seldom made
the same thing twice, and all they had in common was a
basically Oriental layout. Bjo sketched him once standing
at the stove stirring a huge pot, with a tentacle writhing
over the edge. The story is told of someone referring, of an
evening, to the excellent breakfast Karu had fixed that
morning. “By the way, Karu,” they asked, “what was that
we had for breakfast?”

“Well,” said Karu, “it was a little early in the morning
to be making up a name for it....”

Karu never really mingled much with the fans, but
when he did he could be counted on for surprises. He
would sit quietly at one side of a party, producing lit
cigarette from the air for a girl who needed a smoke,
accepting cigarette stubs, extinguishing them in the palm
of his hand and making them disappear. And then there
was the evening he brought out his drums....

Karu had an old car parked behind the Fan Hillton,
and in this car was at least one of everything in the world.
“Just a minute, I think I've got one in my car,” became a
catchphrase. A special had been advertised on television,
and everyone wanted to watch it, but we had no set. Karu
excused himself and returned with a small portable which
served the Hillton for the rest of the period he stayed. Bjo
was working on a spice recipe which needed the function
of a mortar and pestel. Karu found them in his glove
compartment. Once, on a bet, I inquired after a sixteen
millimeter movie projector. I lost; it was on the back floor.
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And one night he began producing drums. He
brought out a couple sets of bongos; a thing called a boo-
bam which was played with a mallet and went either boo
or bam, depending on where it was hit; a set of tuned
bogos, about eight pieces of bamboo cut to different
lengths and headed, capable of delivering eight random
notes across about two octaves, a big standing Conga
drum; and assorted claves, marracas, and noisy things.
And we started a jam session. Somebody would start off a
simple beat on the Conga, and hold it for long enough to
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get everyone started. Then one at a time the other instru-
ments would come in, working around the basic beat,
improvising rhythmic patterns, and eventually everybody
would be going at once. And then the Conga would take
off. The whole improvisation would run for five or ten
minutes, and gradually wind up, everybody together,
when it felt right. it wasn’t just a fluke, either—we shifted
instruments and did it two more times. By then there had
been a lot of beer spread around, and things get kind of
hazy. My only clear memory from the rest of the evening is
sitting at the Conga drum in the dining room while Lee



Jacobs pummeled dixieland jazz out of the old piano
there, beating the drum in accompaniment with the help
of a second pair of hands belonging to a girl I was in love
with at the time, with a can of beer bouncing on the
drumhead between us. Somehow that seems an unlikely
memory, but that was the impression I had.

The Fan Hillton was quite a place. I spent about half
my time there, what with one thing and another. I was out
of one college and not started in another, and had plenty
of free time.

Eventually time took its toll, and the wheels of
progress caught up with us. The property was sold for a
small office building, and the old house had to be razed.
Fandom was poorer for its loss. The night they finished

moving out, I came back with Bruce for a last look around.

The electricity had been turned off for the last time, and
we went in the wide open front door with a flashlight. I
stood in the hall downstairs and looked around, and
thought about what a lot of fun we had had in this house,
and all the wonderful things that had gone on there in the
last year and a half.

* ok ok

I remember Pelz becoming bored around seven
o’clock one lovely clear evening and saying, “Let’s go
for a walk.” We walked and talked for some time.
Eventually we got to the far end of the Sunset Strip and
it was two in the morning. We had a bite to eat and
walked back, arriving as dawn broke, after having taken
a bus for only the last two miles of a twenty-mile hike.
But we got a lot of talking done.
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